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      This is for John Davis,
Keeper of the Flame

      




      
      
      AUTHOR’S NOTE

      
      There is something about a mine and its killing power, remote in time and place from its manufacture and delivery, which offends
         the most basic notions of human decency. This applies to all mines, from the primitive Improvised Explosive Devices (IEDs)
         that killed so many of our soldiers in Afghanistan to the thousands of anti-personnel mines that have taken such a terrible
         toll of life and limb in the wake of the Vietnam War across Southeast Asia and in the conflicts of sub-Saharan Africa. It
         is an instrument of death and defilement that seems to have been dredged from the underbelly of the human soul.
     

      
      But its most complex and terrible incarnation was encompassed in the intricate devices created by the Nazis in that most pivotal
         of human conflicts in the 20th century. Adolf Hitler’s ‘secret weapons’ – parachute mines the Germans unleashed on British
         ports and cities – were designed to kill soldiers and civilians alike. They were calculated to strike terror and destroy British morale. But their prime purpose was
         to cut Britain off from her vital supplies and starve her people to death or surrender. And they almost succeeded.
     

      
      A small team of brave men fought back. Among them was a group of Australian volunteers who sailed to England and after only
         the most basic training undertook the task of rendering the monsters safe. And when the enemy realised that the ‘mine busters’
         were teasing out their secrets and defusing them, in the insanity of war, the Nazis devised booby traps designed to kill or
         disable them. Then they constantly changed the mechanism so that what disarmed the mine one day primed it the next.
     

      
      Much of the mine busters’ work with the monsters took place beneath the sea, in the dark, with dead bodies floating past and
         in the knowledge that the reverberation of exploding shells could detonate the mine they were desperately trying to render
         safe. And they returned to their task day after day, month after month in the vanguard of the war in Europe, in the Normandy
         landings and then in the Pacific.
     

      
      Two of the Australians in the team, Hugh Syme and Stuart Mould, were the starting point for this book. But as I researched
         it I unearthed a saga which I believe is unmatched in the annals of human courage and gallantry. Three other extraordinary
         figures loomed into focus – one an Englishman, and two other Australians whose characters, on the surface at least, could
         hardly have been more different.
     

      
      
      The Englishman, John Ouvry, enters the fray in the opening pages. The Australians, George Gosse and Leon Goldsworthy, arrive
         on the scene just as the battle against the mines takes on a new and terrifying dimension.
     

      
      It is almost impossible to conceive of a more hazardous and terrifying endeavour. Yet despite their extraordinary efforts
         their names and deeds are barely known to the people of Australia, Britain and the United States today. Somehow in the great
         tide of military history that has swept across the publishing world they have been overlooked.
     

      
      It is my fond hope that One False Move will help to remedy that omission. In doing so I am tremendously grateful to the families of all five of the main characters
         in the saga for the trust they have placed in me. While all the principal players are long in their graves, the families have
         supplied me with the most intimate insights into the characters of their fathers, uncles and brothers, as well as the words
         of the men themselves written at the time and in the years following the war.
     

      
      Angus and Margie-Clare Mould, for example, provided an immense amount of raw memoir written by their father in the 1950s.
         Hugh Syme’s daughters, Eve, Belinda and Ione could hardly have been more helpful. ‘Mouldy’ sent much of his memoir to Hugh
         with the idea of its eventual publication along with Hugh’s own memories.
     

      
      When Mouldy died tragically young in 1957 Hugh contacted the author Ivan Southall and between Mouldy’s memoirs and Hugh’s
         memories, Ivan wrote a ‘novel’ which was published in 1960 under the title, Softly Tread the Brave. It was solidly based on fact but in the conventions of the time it was designated as a work of fiction since he invented
         dialogue to bind it together. Ivan Southall wrote principally for young readers and he subsequently recast his novel for that
         market under the title Seventeen Seconds.
     

      
      However, he dealt only with Mould and Syme; the other half of the foursome – Gosse and Goldsworthy – remained in abeyance
         until my own research drew them into the story. The Gosse and Downer families of South Australia; and ‘Goldy’s’ sister Mary,
         daughter Pamela and grandson Julian were wonderfully cooperative. And during a trip to see Pamela in Perth she handed over
         an unpublished 114-page wartime memoir by her father.
     

      
      I am also immensely grateful to John Davis, perhaps the world’s leading expert on the technicalities of the struggle against
         the mines and the unexploded bombs of World War II. His guidance and assistance were vital both during my research visit to
         the UK and via many emails during the writing. Thanks also to Chris Ransted, whose work on the casualties among the men rendering
         mines and bombs safe is an outstanding achievement of painstaking research. David Ouvry, the son of the man who started it
         all, John Ouvry, showed me great kindness. My friend and frequent co-author, Peter Thompson read and marked the MS with his
         usual extraordinary judgement and encyclopaedic knowledge. And my publisher, Matthew Kelly, was both creative and supportive
         throughout.
     

      
      This cooperation across the board has allowed me to recreate that time and place in all its rawness and terror and to understand and appreciate those rare moments of relief from the tension and anguish that made up their lives throughout
         the conflict. I am proud to have been entrusted with this remarkable story. I hope with all my heart that I have done it justice.
     

      
      Robert Macklin

      
      robert@robertmacklin.com

      




      
      


      
      ‘The work of these officers and ratings, and the cold-blooded heroism with which they performed it, have been of the highest
         quality and have been the cause of saving many lives and homes.’

         WINSTON CHURCHILL

      




      
      
      CHAPTER ONE

      
      THE MINES

      
      I reached out a hand to touch it: a black, malevolent presence deep in the bowels of the British warship. We were alone together.
         The ship was silent. My fingertips brushed across its glowing surface. I felt the pitted metal, cold as death.
     

      
      It moved.

      
      I withdrew my hand, took a breath and reached out again. This time I placed my palm on its bulbous shape, the size of a big
         beer barrel, and pushed. It rocked back and forth. It was doing my bidding. I encouraged the rocking: a little push, a little
         pull. I had come across the world to do this. I wanted to show my contempt, I think; I wanted the vision of it defeated, foolish,
         a tyrant suddenly bereft of all his power, a plaything. For this was Ouvry’s mine, and it was not just the symbol of the battle
         for civilisation that was fought out in the mid-20th century; it was the actual instrument invented by Hitler’s people to
         destroy all that was precious and joyous in the human race: liberty, law, reason itself. It was the monstrous mind made tangible.
     

      
      And now I rocked it back and forth like a fat, broken toy. I felt a tremendous sense of relief, a diver rising to the surface
         and sucking in that first, beautiful breath of air, down into the lungs. The young British naval officer, Lieutenant Mike
         Smith, entered the passageway, his cap under his wing.
     

      
      ‘Found it all right, I see.’

      
      ‘Yes, thank you.’

      
      ‘Horrible beast, wasn’t it?’

      
      ‘Yes.’

      
      ‘We had the family in for the 70th anniversary,’ he said. ‘Very nice little ceremony; lovely people.’

      
      Seventy years. My life was easily encompassed well within that time span. So too were those of the vast majority of us on
         the planet today. And for the nations who fought against the monster in Europe, America, Australia and the other dominions,
         they have been good lives, free of oppression, full of progress. They were all made possible because men like John Garnault
         Delahaize Ouvry and four Australians – Hugh Syme, George Gosse, Stuart Mould and Leon Goldsworthy – pitted themselves against
         the monsters; and won, although at a terrible cost. There were others, of course, immensely brave young Britons, Canadians,
         Australians, New Zealanders and Americans who joined the battle. Many gave their lives; all were scarred; some broke down
         completely, for it was a battle of nerves as much as expertise, and just when one monster was defeated the Nazis invented another even more fearsome. But these five men played a key role at the battlefront.
     

      
      Their combat zone was the rubble of the Blitz from London to Birmingham to Cardiff to Coventry, where at any time the broken
         walls could have crashed down on them and the intricate machinery they were struggling to neutralise. Then it expanded to
         the docks and the muddy sands of English beaches; to the murky waters of British and European ports, where far below the surface
         the monsters lurked in darkness and they fought by touch alone; and then finally to the Pacific theatre, where the Americans
         were beating back the Japanese invader.
     

      
      Lieutenant Smith and I turned our back on the mine and walked together up to the quarterdeck of the warship, the light cruiser
         HMS Belfast. It is a tourist attraction now, run by the Imperial War Museum and connected by a long walkway to the south bank of the
         Thames. The London city hall squats there, a modern architectural folly resembling a three-dimensional ink blot. Ahead of
         us in capricious contrast is the Victorian Gothic of the Tower Bridge leading on the north side to the deceptively Disneyland
         outlines of the Tower of London.
     

      
      There the royal despots of an earlier time stifled dissent by removing the noble heads of the dissenters. They sought also
         to impose their will – and their religion – upon a subject nation. And from time to time they sallied across the Channel to
         extend their domain over the people of other nations, France in particular.
     

      
      
      In the 18th and 19th centuries, their successors joined other European powers in the oppression and economic enslavement of
         half the world. They dressed it in colonial euphemism, but the reality was starkly revealed in 1914 when their greed imploded
         in the terrible bloodletting of the Great War.
     

      
      But nothing in a thousand years of civilisation had prepared the world for the rise of Adolf Hitler and his hypnotic power
         over the German people. Not until the battle was joined did it become clear that it was a struggle to the death for civilisation;
         that Hitler and his vile coterie were intent on the destruction of science, of art, and of truth itself. And not until the
         end, when the few remaining live skeletons staggered from the Nazi death camps, did we begin to realise just how pivotal in
         human history the fight had been. But even now, more than 70 years later, we still don’t appreciate how close we came to defeat.
     

      
      Britain entered the struggle unprepared, while Hitler and his murderous retinue had their plans complete. In Hitler’s violent
         fantasy of racial mastery, a martial elite would lord it over hundreds of millions of subjects. He deeply resented the fact
         that Germany had lagged behind the scramble for African territory in the late 19th century. The British and French had also
         imposed themselves on the Middle East; the Japanese had marched into Manchuria in 1931; and the Italians had annexed Ethiopia
         four years later. However, the Spanish Civil War had allowed his Wehrmacht to test weapons and tactics; his armoury was vast,
         his plans well laid. Now was the time to act.
     

      
      
      At home he would annihilate the Jews and the other undesirables – the gypsies, the handicapped, the enfeebled – while beyond
         the fatherland’s borders his mighty Panzer divisions, in the wake of the Luftwaffe spearhead, would blitzkrieg Europe into
         submission. ‘Once we are masters in Europe,’ Hitler said, ‘then we will enjoy the dominant position in the world.’1

      
      Russia would come next, and with no outside support the Bolshevik state would crumble before the Führer’s brigades. Then,
         with his Japanese ally dominating the Orient, the Americas would have no choice but to find an accommodation with his glorious
         1,000-year Third Reich.
     

      
      Meanwhile, the British islanders would either tear themselves apart politically, collapse from within as their food and fuel
         ran out, or be so isolated and vulnerable that their only option would be to sue for peace. And, he boasted, under his personal
         direction Germany had developed a ‘secret weapon’, an irresistible force guaranteed to bring the British down. As he told
         the Reichstag in Berlin on 6 October 1939, ‘Mr Churchill may be convinced that Great Britain will win. I do not doubt for
         a single moment that Germany will be victorious. Destiny will decide who is right.’
     

      
      It was no idle boast.

      
      The secret weapon was the invention of a German ‘genius’, Herbert Rühlemann, an electrical engineer from Leipzig, who since
         the early 1930s had been perfecting a magnetic fuze (fuse) while working for the big engineering company Rheinische Metallwaaren und Maschinenfabrik, commonly known as Rheinmetall.
     

      
      
      Rühlemann, fair and squat, with thick glasses in heavy frames, was a member of the Nazi Party, but his fascination was for
         electrical systems and gadgetry. He married a prominent children’s author, Sophie Reuschle, some years his senior, and joined
         Rheinmetall in 1926.
     

      
      His first task was to develop electrical fuses, as opposed to the standard mechanical variety, and although it took him three
         years, he was finally able to design and build them using a super-fine wire of a chromium–nickel alloy with a charge that
         could be packed into a cylinder 12 centimetres long and 6 centimetres wide.
     

      
      ‘Our design evaluation,’ he wrote, ‘had shown that the most logical place to locate the electrical bomb fuse was not at the
         nose of the bomb but somewhere in the middle, within a tubing perpendicular to the axis.’2

      
      He is known to have kept a diary, but its location is unknown. His work on the deadly fuses, however, is commemorated approvingly
         today in Dusseldorf’s Stadtmuseum.
     

      
      In 1931, his inventions came to the attention of Oberleutnant Ernst Marquard, himself an engineer and a fanatical supporter
         of Hitler’s quest for world domination. He was then running the Wehrmacht’s ‘launch armaments and ejection mechanisms’ in
         the army’s weapons office. Marquard, dark and intense, was born in 1897 in Duisburg-Meiderich just north of Dusseldorf.
     

      
      Under the Treaty of Versailles after World War I, Germany was prevented from developing these weapons. But in a secret deal,
         the Russians provided them with a range at remote Lipetsk between Moscow and Volgograd in which to carry out their experiments in exchange for electric fuse technology. When he became chancellor the following
         year, Hitler approved the operation.
     

      
      Marquard would rise to the Luftwaffe’s general staff and with Rühlemann would become one of the German leader’s most potent
         accomplices, endlessly inventive and utterly ruthless in creating the most monstrous explosive armoury.
     

      
      By the time a reluctant British prime minister, Neville Chamberlain, declared war on 3 September 1939, the Germans had created
         a vast fuse factory at Breslau in Silesia. There they had developed a simple but immensely powerful anti-shipping device and
         demonstrated its effectiveness to the Führer. It was a quantum leap from the primitive ‘horned’ contact mines laid just below
         the surface, which had bedevilled merchant and naval ships in the First World War.
     

      
      Herbert Rühlemann’s Mark I (Type GA) mine was deployed on the sea floor, but the genius was in its triggering device. A steel-hulled
         ship passing many metres above it distorted the earth’s magnetic field just enough to detonate the massive explosive force
         within. On Hitler’s orders, General-Ingenieur Marquard immediately began to deploy the first of them from merchantmen in the
         shipping lanes around the British coastline.
     

      
      The results were not long arriving, and they gladdened Hitler’s heart. In the late afternoon of Sunday 10 September, a week
         after the declaration of war, the merchant vessel SS Magdapur, en route from India with a mixed cargo, was steaming slowly through the Channel off the Suffolk coast when the deep growl
         of an explosion roared upwards and broke her back. Her boiler burst and she began to sink in 70 feet of water. Two hours later, only her two masts were showing
         above the surface. She had settled on an even keel; her crew sustained ‘severe casualties’.
     

      
      The admiralty was bemused. The area had been thoroughly swept for the contact mines that might have been expected from the
         Germans, and indeed the defensive minefields they themselves were deploying. They ordered a further sweep using fast, shallow-draft
         minesweepers and converted fishing trawlers, but without result. The general consensus was that Magdapur had been the victim of a U-boat’s torpedo.
     

      
      Six days later, another vessel, SS City of Paris, a passenger ship built in 1922 for the Ellerman Lines and requisitioned by the government at the outbreak of war, was travelling
         just west of the site of the Magdapur’s sinking, when at 8.10 p.m. she too was blasted from beneath. The explosion was so powerful that the captain and crew were
         in no doubt they were sinking, and they abandoned ship. Once in the lifeboats, they heaved on the oars and stood off to bid
         farewell. Somewhat embarrassingly, she remained afloat and they returned aboard to discover that, while she had sustained
         severe damage in the lower decks, she remained seaworthy and the engines could still operate, albeit on reduced power. The
         next day she reached port at Tilbury where an inspection revealed that the hull, although badly buckled, was still intact.
     

      
      The admiralty called in the boffins. Clearly this was no contact mine, since they were designed to blow a hole in the steel plating. Could it be the much vaunted ‘secret weapon’ mentioned by Hitler’s propaganda machine? And if so, how
         did the damn thing work?
     

      
      As it happened, the admiralty was developing its own non-contact mines. One man had been involved from the beginning of the
         exercise in 1932: Lieutenant-Commander J. D. G. Ouvry, who operated from the Mine and Torpedo School on the shore-based HMS
         Vernon at Portsmouth. Ouvry was enjoying a Sunday afternoon with his wife Lorna at their comfortable cottage in Fareham, on the
         northern side of Portsmouth Harbour, when the call arrived from Commander ‘M’: Vernon’s head of mining, Guy Sayer.
     

      
      Ouvry changed into his uniform and drove himself the 5 kilometres to the massive gates of the walled naval base. Inside were
         more than 50 buildings, including workshops, dormitories, messes, offices and the splendid homes of the captain and the commander-in-chief.
         Tennis courts and a carefully tended rugby field occupied an acreage that fronted the harbour where the base’s flotilla of
         five destroyers, half a dozen torpedo boats, mine sweepers and other smaller vessels lay at anchor.
     

      
      This was Ouvry’s world, one in which the senior service enjoyed the patronage of the cream of the British establishment, most
         notably the royal family. It was socially self-contained. It produced its own newspaper, its own regular theatricals – thrillers
         and whodunits, with officers’ wives taking the female roles. The annual Vernon children’s party was a high point of the year.
     

      
      
      Ouvry had first entered this privileged milieu shortly after his 12th birthday in 1909. His father was the Rev. J. D. Ouvry,
         an Anglican parish priest in Dorset. But when it came to his career, neither father nor son was given a choice. ‘I didn’t
         decide to join the navy,’ John says. ‘My mother did, because her brother was a naval officer and she wanted her son to carry
         on the tradition.’3 So after he blew out his 12 candles she packed him off to the Royal Naval College at Osborne on the Isle of Wight, just across
         the Solent from Portsmouth.
     

      
      Built by Prince Alfred as a country retreat for his wife Queen Victoria, Osborne House had been converted to the Naval College
         in 1903. ‘We dressed in uniform,’ Ouvry says, ‘but otherwise the routine was much the same as any school.’4

      
      During the 1914–18 war, Midshipman Ouvry saw his first action on the battle cruiser HMS Tiger. ‘We were dogsbodies,’ he says. ‘We were liable to be beaten and we were badly fed. It was lovely to get ashore sometimes
         and be asked out for a meal.’ However, all such thoughts were banished when Tiger contacted German battle cruisers on the Dogger Bank early in 1915.
     

      
      ‘We blasted away at poor Blücher and we fired two torpedoes at her at point blank range. I saw the foremost turret blow up and the mast come down. She actually
         sank within view, leaving a number of sailors struggling in the sea. It was pretty horrible. One of our destroyers went alongside
         and picked up a few Germans. Then a Zeppelin overhead dropped a bomb somewhere near the destroyers and they made off with
         a few prisoners on board.’
     

      
      
      The Tiger also took casualties. ‘Within a few feet of where I was standing was an engineer captain who had played rugby for England,’
         he says. ‘His leg was blown off. He died shortly afterwards. The awful thing was he said, “Someone warm up my leg; it’s hurting”,
         and he hadn’t a leg to warm up. It’s one of those things one remembers.’
     

      
      The following year, his ship was caught up in the Battle of Jutland. By then Ouvry was second in charge of the Tiger’s starboard 6-inch guns, the cruiser’s secondary armament. And soon after they engaged the German fleet, the battle cruisers
         Indefatigable and Queen Mary, fore and aft of Tiger, took German shells in their magazines, blew up and disappeared. ‘I don’t think there were more than about two survivors
         from the Indefatigable and three – including one midshipman – from the Queen Mary,’ he says.
     

      
      ‘We merely closed up into the space ahead of us, astern of Lion. Then one of Lion’s turrets was hit. The Royal Marine officer in charge of the turret was a Major Harvey, and his legs were shot off.
     

      
      ‘There was a violent fire but he remained alive to give the order to flood the magazine and the shell room, because he knew
         that if the fire got down to the shell room the whole ship would blow up. He was awarded the Victoria Cross posthumously.’
     

      
      The cruiser battle squadron then turned to meet up with Admiral Jellicoe’s Grand Fleet, which was seeking a full-scale engagement
         with the German battle fleet commanded by Admiral von Scheer. ‘Just after six we sighted the Grand Fleet,’ he says, ‘and about that time the Grand Fleet sighted the German battle fleet.’
     

      
      Fourteen British and 11 German ships would be sunk in the engagement, with great loss of life. But Scheer’s plan to nullify
         the strike force of the British fleet failed. The Germans continued to pose a threat that kept the British battleships in
         the North Sea, but henceforth they concentrated on destroying Britain’s merchant shipping lifeline. It was this policy that
         Hitler would adopt so enthusiastically in his mission to force the island nation to capitulate.
     

      
      By war’s end, Ouvry had been promoted to lieutenant and he was at the surrender of the German Fleet in Scapa Flow. In the
         peacetime navy, he qualified at HMS Greenwich as torpedo-electrical officer and became mining instructor at Vernon in 1923. He was promoted to lieutenant-commander in 1926 and two years later was seconded to the RAN Torpedo School at Flinders
         Naval Base near Melbourne.
     

      
      In 1927, he had met his wife to be, Lorna Evisan, of Surrey at the Swiss ski resort of Wengen and they became engaged later
         that year. Lorna sailed to Australia for their wedding and on 18 August 1928 his wardroom colleagues provided a guard of honour
         with their unsheathed swords as Ouvry and his bride left St Peter’s Anglican Church in Melbourne. Their eldest son Robin was
         born in the Victorian capital in November 1929 and Ouvry’s familiarity with Australian ways would prove particularly useful
         when dealing with the four RAN Volunteer Reserve officers with whom he would work so closely in their vicious struggle against
         Hitler’s secret weapons.
     

      
      
      On his return to Portsmouth, he was posted to Vernon’s Torpedo and Mining Electrical School, where his mission was the development of British non-contact mines. Some progress
         was made, but their work was primitive compared with the well-funded and highly sophisticated activities of Herbert Rühlemann
         at Rheinmetall. But it did mean that when war broke out, ‘If any enemy mines were found I was the obvious person to deal with
         them.’5

      
      When he parked his car that Sunday afternoon and reported to Commander Sayer, ‘M’ quickly briefed him on the sinking of Magdapur and the blow to City of Paris on the Aldeburgh Napes, the relatively shallow fishing banks on the continental shelf between England and the Netherlands.
         ‘Putting two and two together,’ he says, ‘these were evidently underwater mines fired by the influence of a ship passing close.’6 However, such speculation was of little value in developing a counterpunch. They needed the real thing to dismantle and tease
         out its secrets.
     

      
      ‘M’ ordered a brace of minesweepers to the area where the two ships were struck. They were equipped with hemp nets to lift
         any mines they discovered on the sea bed. Ouvry and his team – Chief Petty Officer C. E. Baldwin and Able Seaman A. L. Vearncombe
         – followed in a third minesweeper, Hussar. If the leading vessels brought a mine to the surface, Ouvry would sketch and photograph it before taking it in tow to a
         sheltered beach, where he would investigate it further. However, no mines were discovered and the exercise was soon abandoned.
     

      
      
      Then, on 24 September, word reached Vernon that at sunrise another ship, the cargo steamer SS Phryne, built in 1938, had been sunk with all hands just east of the Aldeburgh Napes. This was devastating. It meant that the northern
         approaches to the Thames Estuary could be barricaded by a single seaborne Nazi mine-laying operation.
     

      
      Then the fishing trawler Tokyo, casting its nets on the Swarte Banks north of Aldeburgh Napes, dragged up a couple of mines in its catch. As soon as the
         skipper spotted them, he gave the order, ‘Slip the trawl!’ and they sank back into the sea along with his fish. When news
         of the incident reached Vernon, Ouvry and his team set out once again, this time from Grimsby on the Humber Estuary. But the results were the same. In rough
         seas, the mines eluded them.
     

      
      As a deeply frustrated Ouvry was returning to Vernon, signals from Naval Control reached him that at least two horned mines had washed ashore in the Humber area. He immediately
         detoured to Hull and then to the beach where the unmistakable shape of one of the German mines awaited. It was a type he knew
         well and with infinite care he withdrew the detonators and then the primers.
     

      
      Gale-force winds were sweeping in from the north-east, and in the next few days dozens of German X and Y type horned mines
         were washed ashore. Ouvry and his small team worked non-stop to render them safe. New men were trained for the task and Lieutenant-Commander
         Roy Edwards was given charge of Nore command based at Great Yarmouth. He too was kept busy with horned mines. But these were
         really a sideshow; elsewhere the magnetic mines were taking a terrible toll.
     

      
      The German destroyers Wilhelm Heidkamp, Hermann Künne and Bernd von Arnim had dashed into the approaches to the Thames Estuary and set a deadly trap. On 18 November, the destroyer Blanche was sunk, while the minesweeper cruiser Adventure travelling nearby was seriously damaged. Over the next two days, no fewer than six merchant ships were lost. Casualties mounted
         as the crews and their precious cargo sank to the sea floor. And when Vernon sent out a mine-sweeping team to the area, the armed trawler HMS Mastiff detonated another mine and six sailors were killed. The Margate lifeboat and the trawler HMS Cape Spartel rescued survivors from the foaming sea.
     

      
      That was just the beginning. Hitler’s secret weapon had soon accounted for no fewer than 15 more merchant ships, including
         the passenger liners Simon Bolivar and Terukini Maru. The situation was becoming desperate. Winston Churchill, recalled to the Cabinet from his exile in the political wilderness
         to become First Lord of the Admiralty, demanded action.
     

      
      Instead there came a crippling blow.

      
      On 9 October, HMS Belfast, one of the latest acquisitions to the fleet launched by Mrs Neville Chamberlain on St Patrick’s Day 1938, had intercepted
         the German liner SS Cap Norte as she tried to return to the fatherland disguised as a neutral. Belfast’s Captain A. E. Scott sent a boarding party and steered her to the nearest British port. Cap Norte was the largest enemy merchant ship intercepted to date, and under admiralty law Belfast’s crew received ‘prize money’ by way of a cash bonus. But then came news from the Firth of Forth that Belfast itself had taken the full force of a magnetic mine from beneath, breaking her back and rendering her useless. The damage
         to her hull and machinery was so severe that it would be almost three years before she could return to service.
     

      
      Captain Scott would never again command a capital ship, although he was in no way to blame for the incident. However, the
         fate of one naval scapegoat paled into insignificance beside the danger to Britain herself. Fuel and food stocks were running
         low. Vital imports of American heavy machinery for munitions production were being lost. The situation was deeply ominous.
         In the Cabinet, there was talk of ‘accommodation’ with the Führer, much to the disgust of Churchill and his supporters.
     

      
      However, behind the scenes in Germany, intrigue and power games among Hitler’s coterie would work to Britain’s advantage.
         The arrogant and overbearing commander-in-chief of the Luftwaffe, Herman Goering, decided he wanted General-Ingenieur Marquard
         transferred to his command. If there was a secret weapon that would bring Britain to her knees, Goering wanted to be the one
         to deliver it. Rear Admiral Doenitz, head of the submarine force, fought to retain him in the Kriegsmarine, but Goering outranked
         him in the Nazi hierarchy and got his way. Rühlemann’s monsters were now his to deploy.
     

      
      Even today, German military strategists believe that this was the decision that lost them the war. ‘If the delivery of the mines remained with the Kriegsmarine,’ says Werner X, speaking on condition of anonymity, ‘we would have won the war easily.
         The British never would have had a mine to work on.’
     

      
      As darkness fell on the evening of 21 November, Luftwaffe seaplanes took off with a full load of parachute mines and headed
         for the estuaries of the Thames and the Humber as well as the Stour and Orwell on the Suffolk coast.7

      
      As they approached the target area, they were spotted by coast watchers but there was very little the defenders could do to
         bring them down. They had only a few anti-aircraft guns spread lightly along the coastline and even fewer shore-based naval
         gunneries. In some areas they were reduced to firing Lewis machine-guns at the retreating aircraft.
     

      
      The results were devastating. In the Channel of Harwich, the destroyer Gypsy took the full blast from beneath. It smashed her hull and almost broke her in half. Her boiler burst and 30 officers and
         men were either killed on board or drowned when thrown into the sea. Hundreds of people, attracted to the shore by the violent
         explosions, saw vessels hurrying to the stricken warship, which was already partly submerged. They launched small boats and
         soon brought the survivors ashore.
     

      
      Once again, ‘M’ was on the phone to Ouvry. This time he was to report to the admiralty building in London at the heart of
         Whitehall. He took the first morning train from Portsmouth Harbour up the South-Western line to Waterloo, then a cab to Whitehall,
         where he reported to Captain John Morse. The gunners had noticed that every aircraft dropped objects into the sea and none exploded on contact;
         they simply disappeared.
     

      
      ‘They looked like sailors’ kitbags suspended from parachutes,’ Morse told Ouvry. ‘I’ve sent people down to Southend, Harwich
         and Grimsby to get all the details they can. We’ll have to wait for their reports.’8

      
      Ouvry was given a desk where he was joined by former rugby player Lieutenant-Commander R. C. ‘Bull’ Lewis, a torpedo man recently
         reassigned to Vernon’s Mining Department. Lewis had just returned from Harwich, but could only report that the mines appeared to have landed well
         off the coast in at least 7 fathoms. Both men feared their time had been wasted once again.
     

      
      However, that night another of Goering’s pilots took his seaplane into the Thames Estuary, this time flying low through the
         mist and apparently uncertain of his position. As the aircraft reached the end of Southend Pier, a machine-gun crew spotted
         it and unloosed a blaze of .303 bullets. The pilot heaved back on his stick and pressed the release button on his control
         panel. Two objects dropped through the mist and, just as their parachutes opened, plunged into the shallow tidal waters of
         Shoeburyness.
     

      
      Since it was now high tide, the gun crew reckoned whatever had been dropped would be revealed when the water receded, so they
         marked the position and reported to the admiralty. The telephone beside Ouvry’s bed brought a strident summons. ‘Morse here. We think we’ve got a Jerry mine for you.’9

      
      Fifteen minutes later, Ouvry and Lewis were in a black admiralty Humber with an official driver at the wheel as they set out
         for the coast. They arrived at Southend at 3 a.m. and checked into the Palace Hotel. Another car was waiting with a navy photographer
         to take them the extra few miles to Shoeburyness. The photographer was not a welcome sight: he would record all elements of
         the operation from as safe a distance as possible so that if the device exploded Ouvry’s successors would be forewarned of
         the fatal step.
     

      
      As the car sped through the darkened streets Ouvry had been mentally rehearsing a procedure he’d employ to render the mine
         safe. ‘I was sure that the detonators would not be fitted before an operation,’ he says, ‘so I’d be looking for some access
         plate through which a detonator could be fitted at the last minute …’10

      
      Shoeburyness hosted a military barracks, and at the entrance they were met by Commander Jeffrey Maton with a party of 10 soldiers
         and a selection of wading boots. As they kitted up, Ouvry ordered all metallic objects left behind. A pile of watches, cigarette
         cases, money and buttons piled up; then the army private who had spotted the parachute led them across the mudflat through
         light rain. He carried an Aldis lamp held high to guide them through the pools left by the receding tide.
     

      
      It was just 4 a.m. when he stopped and called, ‘There it is, sir.’11

      
      
      Ouvry joined him. Lewis too came forward. The others stood their ground. ‘We saw a glistening black cylindrical thing with
         horns on its nose, stuck in the mud,’ Ouvry says. ‘We dropped the soldiers back. Then Lewis and I went slowly forward to look
         at this monster. It was on a slew and it had a big spring sticking out of the empty rear compartment.’
     

      
      ‘Lewis said, “Look, the paint’s come off; it looks like aluminium,” so we were pretty sure it was magnetic.’

      
      By now a second photographer had joined them and they studied the mine from all angles. Once up close, Ouvry decided it would
         be madness to try to deal with it in the dark. Since it was magnetic they would need tools made from brass and copper, and
         there were two fittings on its outside that were a complete mystery. ‘I had never seen anything like it before,’ he says,
         ‘so Lewis pulled a pad out of his pocket and made a rubbing, the idea being that we could have a pin spanner made at the barracks
         workshop and when daylight arrived we’d return with the tool we needed.’
     

      
      Ouvry reported to ‘M’ at Vernon and he immediately dispatched his team – the weatherbeaten CPO, Charlie Baldwin, and young Able Seaman Archie Vearncombe
         – to assist.
     

      
      The admiralty called. The First Lord, Winston Churchill was following events closely and must be kept informed.

      
      When they returned the next afternoon, they were astonished to discover a second mine about 300 metres from the first. It
         too was clearly a magnetic type and had been dropped at the same time.
     

      
      
      ‘We made a plan.’ Ouvry says. ‘I would go out with Chief Petty Officer Baldwin. We could strip down the two fittings on the
         first mine then wave to Lewis and get him to come out and help us turn the mine over to get at the two fittings underneath
         it.’12 If things ‘went wrong’, Lewis would go to work in the second mine once the debris from the explosion was cleared away.
     

      
      ‘It may sound rather odd,’ Ouvry says, ‘but I was frightfully excited and we just had to succeed. I really wasn’t afraid as
         such; just absolutely keyed up. But when I was alone with Baldwin I said we should give a little prayer here because we’re
         in the hands of the Almighty. He said, “We can do no more than our best.”’
     

      
      So, without a prayer, Ouvry approached the mine through the wind and a cold shower of rain. ‘I saw a little bit of brass shining
         in the mud,’ he says. ‘I thought, gracious me, what’s this, and I pulled it out of the mud. It was a rather peculiar brass
         rod and I thought it had to be something to do with the mine. We might be lucky.’
     

      
      Before attacking the first fitting, Ouvry found a hole in which the rod might be inserted. ‘I put it in. I thought that before
         the mine was dropped someone in the aeroplane pulled the safety pin out so that the mine would be active. That gave us a bit
         of confidence.
     

      
      ‘The great thing in my mind was to get out that horrible fitting, which was made of aluminium, copper and brass and was also
         sealed with some tallow. It had a copper strip sticking out of it so I told Baldwin to pull it back carefully;  but being a good old sailor he got hold of it and gave it a tremendous wrench.
     

      
      ‘The thing came half off and I stopped him very quickly because I really felt it was between us and death. We then fitted
         the spanner and started to unscrew it. That was quite easy. Off came the ring and then I saw this thing – it was made of aluminium
         – and I thought it was a magnetic firing device. I felt if I moved it quickly in the earth’s magnetic field it may go off.
         I’ve got a very steady hand … I moved it hardly perceptibly out of the mine until it was quite clear. Then I felt a bit better.
     

      
      ‘I was pretty sure it contained a detonator and I put it in the mud beside the mine where it couldn’t do any harm if it did
         go off; and I looked into the hole from which it had been extracted. I saw four rings of explosive underneath what had been
         a priming charge, so I knew I’d removed a firing device with a detonator screwed underneath.
     

      
      ‘Underneath the detonator were the priming charges that intermediate between a detonator and a main charge, which was the
         mine itself. So I fished out that explosive and felt very much better for it. Then I went back to Lewis on shore and got him
         to come back with me.
     

      
      ‘We actually turned the mine over to get to the next fittings – there were four of them – and with a bit of luck and a little
         bit of skill we managed to get the next cover off and underneath we found a screw-bung. It was made of brass and I needed
         quite a bit of force, but I had to be very careful.
     

      
      
      ‘When I’d got that out I saw underneath an electric detonator – another one – with red and blue leads to it. I disconnected
         the leads and unscrewed the fitting in which it was inserted. I managed very gently to get that fitting out and put it too
         on the mud.
     

      
      ‘Then there were two more fittings to get out. One had a brass rod sticking out of it and when I’d got it unscrewed it came
         out with a rush. At the end was a priming charge. I laid that aside. Now on one side I’d taken the detonator out; right opposite
         was the priming charge, which had fitted over the detonator. And now I had this horrible thing and I didn’t know what it was.
     

      
      ‘There was one more thing to get out, a big solid brass fitting in which I’d fitted the safety pin. I thought this could hardly
         be a third detonator so I unscrewed it and lifted it out and put it on a piece of rock.
     

      
      ‘But as I put it down the spindle stuck out and the fitting fell on the brass rod which was underneath. It started to go “tick,
         tick, tick” so I whipped it out quickly and it stopped ticking. I calculated that if you pressed that rod in, some clock was
         working off time. I felt much happier without the tick.
     

      
      ‘We then got a tractor to come out with a crane. It lifted our mine, brought it in from the mud and put it in a hut. We took
         the four fittings from the mud and brought them back where we could deal with them in our own time.’
     

      
      After that, Lewis attacked the second mine, which eventually surrendered its deadly mechanism as the tide rose around it.
         Finally they returned to the barracks.
     

      
      
      ‘We were having a cup of tea with the commander,’ Ouvry says, ‘when I suddenly remembered. “Good heavens alive,” I said, “Mr
         Churchill is waiting for a result.” So we rushed off to a telephone. And sure enough, he was waiting at the admiralty to hear
         from us. We were able to tell him, “This enormity has been dealt with and has been brought ashore. It will be taken down to
         Portsmouth for the scientists to open it up and find out the workings of the firing mechanism. But we’re quite confident we’ve
         made it safe. We’re taking the dangerous fittings to Vernon. They will be dissected very carefully.”’
     

      
      Lewis then drove to London, where he personally briefed Churchill and the other lords of the admiralty while Ouvry returned
         with his ‘enormity’ to Vernon where he personally dissected the detonators.
     

      
      It was a powerful breakthrough. In quick time, the scientists would combine with naval officers at Vernon to develop a system to sweep these magnetic mines and explode them harmlessly. They would also contrive a system of ‘degaussing’
         (from ‘gauss’, a unit of measurement that indicates the strength of a magnetic field) Allied ships by girdling them with an
         electric cable that counteracted the effect their magnetism would have on Rühlemann’s ingenious firing system.
     

      
      On 26 November, King George VI made a personal visit to Vernon, where he invested Lieutenant-Commander J. G. D. Ouvry and Lieutenant-Commander R. C. Lewis with the Distinguished Service
         Order, and Chief Petty Officer C. E. Baldwin and Able Seaman A. Vearncombe with the Distinguished Service Medal.
     

      
      Three of the four would survive the long struggle ahead as Hitler’s operatives devised ever more sophisticated and lethal
         methods of destroying Britain’s lifeline. Not so Ouvry’s right-hand man, the rough old sailor Charlie Baldwin. On heavy seas
         in the Firth of Forth, he was directing a mine-sweeping operation. When lifting a horned mine on board, the trawler rocked
         and a horn smashed into her side.
     

      
      Five hundred pounds of explosive tore ship and crew to pieces as a crack of thunder rolled across the Firth.

   



      
      
      CHAPTER TWO

      
      THE MEN

      
      ‘It all began,’ says Hugh Randall Syme, ‘on that memorable day in September 1939. Joan and I had been up in the hills looking
         at the bushfire-devastated areas and were feeling rather depressed, so instead of coming home had a picnic meal near the Healesville
         wildlife sanctuary. Listening to the car radio while we drank our coffee, we heard Mr Neville Chamberlain pronounce the fateful
         words which engulfed the world in the bloodiest battle for personal freedom for all time.13

      
      ‘Hurriedly packing the picnic things, we made for town to find everyone agog. I went into the office where a special edition
         was in the process of being made up. I don’t think anyone slept much that night – we were all wondering what would happen
         and where it would all end.’
     

      
      The office was that of the Age newspaper founded by Hugh’s grandfather, David Syme. On his death, control had passed to two of his five sons: Geoffrey, and Hugh’s father Herbert. The brothers lived side by side in two great mansions
         – ‘Blythswood’ and ‘Rockingham’ – in Kew, one of Melbourne’s more salubrious suburbs overlooking the Yarra River. Between
         them, the brothers had 11 children, but only Herbert had sons: Hugh, born in February 1903 and David in 1905.
     

      
      Hugh only just made it through infancy. He was a tiny premature baby and the doctor came daily. According to his nephew and
         godson Peter Macdougall, ‘He had special scales and they had to weigh him twice a day. His nurse was known as the woman who
         saved his life. Until he was six or seven he lived a fairly desperate life.’ Even when he went to Scotch College aged about
         12, Peter Macdougall says, ‘He was very skinny – thick as a finger.’14

      
      Nor was he specially daring. When he was 14 or 15 he went robbing beehives with Mardi, Geoffrey Syme’s eldest daughter, at
         the family’s holiday resort at Seaforth. ‘She was one of the few women who could rob a hive without being masked,’ Macdougall
         says. ‘In the face of the bees, Hugh disappeared. She could never accept that he was a hero.’
     

      
      While the children played together in the vast grounds at Kew, there was tension among the adults. David Syme’s will had given
         charge of the newspaper to the much younger Geoffrey, while Herbert was relegated to the role of managerial bookkeeper and
         production overseer. The will had also created a trust that would play a decisive – and desperately frustrating – role in
         Hugh’s wartime activities.
     

      
      
      Meantime, Hugh made his way through school and on holidays went rabbiting with young Peter on the family farm at Killara.
         Later he taught him fly-fishing in the beautiful Howqua Valley in the Victorian high country. After college he went on to
         study engineering at Melbourne University and would be fascinated by mechanical devices throughout his life.
     

      
      ‘He always wanted to know how things worked,’ says his daughter Eve Syme. ‘He was absolutely meticulous. He was good at maths
         – not quick but thorough. He had to apply himself; it didn’t come naturally.’15

      
      As a young man his mechanical passions were mostly deployed on fast cars. ‘He used to zoom around in the Red Terror,’ Peter
         Macdougall says. And he would never miss the annual races at Phillip Island off the southern coast, entering under the alias
         Hugh Randall to protect the family name. ‘I remember in 1937 he drove an MG J-type, supercharged and with leather straps over
         the bonnet,’ Macdougall says. ‘He wore a leather helmet and goggles. He became quite famous as an amateur racing car driver.’
     

      
      He also hunted deer and travelled to Bermagui to go game fishing off the New South Wales coast with the great American writer
         of westerns, Zane Grey. He and his brother David shared ownership of an 82-foot yacht, Westwind, and Hugh took his friends on weekend cruises around Western Port.
     

      
      He joined the Age in the production department but never allowed work to come between him and a good time. Just above medium height, with a
         trim physique, high forehead and a frank, confident manner, he set the eyelashes fluttering among Melbourne’s debutantes. He partied with a young Warwick Fairfax, whose family owned the Sydney Morning Herald, on trips to the lively harbour city, and he played the field among Australia’s smart set.
     

      
      In 1931, he married the beautiful Olive Alyson ‘Ally’ Clark, daughter of a prominent Melbourne stockbroker who had lost his
         fortune in the Great Depression. They made their home at ‘Grenfell’ in suburban Kooyong and a young Edna Walling designed
         their garden. Walling had grown up in Devon and would become famous throughout Australia for the way she landscaped the surroundings
         to blend with the architecture of the home.
     

      
      Unexpectedly, perhaps, the newly married Syme took enormous pleasure in the garden and came to be an authority on roses. ‘I
         think it was because of the time he spent as a child at Killara,’ says Eve. ‘He loved the bushland and the garden reminded
         him of that.’
     

      
      The couple had no children and they separated in 1939. The divorce was made final the following year. In the meantime, while
         in Adelaide for a newspaper proprietors’ conference, he met Joan, the beautiful young daughter of journalist Delamore McCay,
         while strolling in the rose garden of their hosts, Alex and Mary Downer. ‘Dad knew all the names and stories of the roses,’
         Eve says. ‘It was more or less love at first sight.’
     

      
      Alex Downer would later enter Federal Parliament and become immigration minister and high commissioner to the Court of St
         James, for which he received a knighthood. Mary was a proud member of the Gosse family and, in one of those coincidences not uncommon in sparsely populated Australia, her cousin George Gosse would join Hugh in the battle
         against Hitler’s secret weapons.
     

      
      Joan’s parents thoroughly approved of the match. Delamore and his flamboyant brother Adam McCay were fixtures in the Sydney
         journalistic scene. Kenneth Slessor called Adam ‘the greatest of all Australian newspapermen’ despite (or perhaps because
         of) his drunken excesses, while Del was noted for his ‘explosive personality’ and ‘an inexhaustible fund of quite original
         expletives’.16

      
      Peter Macdougall says, ‘She was the dream girl from Sydney.’

      
      However, the more conservative members of the Syme family looked somewhat askance. Seventy years on, one would explain, ‘Everyone
         called her Froggy. She was thought of as being not quite right, though she was pretty and very lively.’ Her nickname was acquired
         as a small child from her love of water at Sydney’s beaches.
     

      
      After the shock of Chamberlain’s declaration of war, followed immediately by Prime Minister Robert Menzies’ announcement of
         his ‘melancholy duty’ to inform his fellow countrymen that ‘Australia is also at war’ with Germany, Hugh considered his options.
         He was 36 at the time and a heavy smoker. But his sporting lifestyle had kept him reasonably fit.
     

      
      ‘As the days went by and Hitler made no move,’ he says, ‘we started to calm down and really consider what we should do. I
         wanted to join the Air Force or Navy. I had been learning to fly at the Royal Victorian Aero Club but a couple of discreet inquiries soon showed me that I would not get my wings owing to being over the age limit.’17

      
      So, the navy it was. And with a couple of pals he set about finding a place to enlist. ‘No one seemed frightfully interested
         in us until we got to Lieutenant-Commander Mills at the Navy Office,’ he says. He listened sympathetically, then told us the
         great secret. Sometime in the near future the British admiralty was going to advertise for Royal Naval Reserve Volunteer officers
         and if we watched the daily press it would tell us all.’
     

      
      Perfect. As a newspaperman Hugh would see the advertisement the night before and have a head start. ‘Meantime, we joined night
         school classes conducted by a retired merchant skipper. There we frantically tried to acquire the rudiments of navigation,
         seamanship and the thousand and one things a sailor should know to pass the entrance exam. The advertisement duly appeared
         and we were first on the doorstep to sign on.’
     

      
      By now a full year had passed since Chamberlain’s declaration signalled the start of the ‘phoney war’. Britain had suffered
         the humiliation of the British Expeditionary Force at Dunkirk and its unlikely deliverance from total annihilation. The Mother
         Country was staring defeat in the face and the call from the admiralty was part of an imperial recruiting drive known as the
         Yachtsmen Scheme.
     

      
      The advertising was discreet and aimed principally at members of yacht clubs in Australia and the other dominions. At the
         Sydney Yacht Squadron it attracted a 30-year-old architect, John Stuart Mould, who sailed his 24-footer around the harbour at weekends.
     

      
      At the time, however, Mould was laid up in hospital recovering from a bout of pneumonia contracted in training as a trooper
         in the AIF Reconnaissance Unit. The newsletter with its offer of a commission in the Royal Naval Volunteer Reserve for anyone
         in his age group with a Board of Trade’s yachtsman’s ticket seemed tailor-made, especially since it would take him back to
         the land of his birth.
     

      
      His parents, Stuart and Ethel Mould, had migrated from Gosford, Northumberland in 1912 when he was two. His father was also
         an architect and they soon established themselves at Mosman on the harbour’s north shore. Young Mould – also known as Stuart
         by the family – went to the prestigious Sydney Grammar School, where he began as a straight ‘B’ student, but improved as he
         grew older and gained his matriculation to Sydney University. However, before taking his architectural degree, he qualified
         as a carpenter as his father had done. On graduation, he returned to the UK where after a year’s further study became an associate
         of the Royal Institute of British Architects in 1934.
     

      
      Back in Sydney the tall, fair young man with a Roman nose and an engaging smile joined his father’s firm as a full partner
         and the following year married Phyllis, the socialite daughter of the very wealthy Palmer family. The Sydney Morning Herald’s social pages gushed that the bride ‘wore a moulded gown of satin with a knoppe surface. A long train of silver lamé fell
         from below the waistline and the detachable sleeves were also of lamé. Her tulle veil was held with a coronet of orange blossoms, and she carried a sheaf of arum lilies’.18

      
      By 1935 his articles on ‘Kitchen Planning for the Modern Housewife’ were featured in the national monthly magazine, Woman. ‘A man is as old as he feels,’ he declared, ‘and a house is as modern as its kitchen.’
     

      
      That year they had a son, Peter, but it had been a rocky marriage from the start and just before leaving for the UK he set
         divorce proceedings in train. While he would desperately miss his son, his wartime writings reveal a sense of relief at the
         parting from Phyllis, three of whose sisters also married naval officers.
     

      
      Mould scored a 95 per cent pass in his RNVR entrance exam, and on 19 September 1940 he boarded the P&O Line’s RMS Strathnaver for the long journey to Liverpool and a war that would draw from him and his colleagues a strength of purpose and mental
         toughness that no one suspected they possessed, least of all the men themselves.
     

      
      The passenger liner had been launched in 1931 and would serve as a troop transport throughout the war. On the manifest were
         150 Yachtsmen Scheme ratings aged between 20 and 30, who would have to earn their commissions from below decks, as well as
         a group of RAF officers returning to duty in the wake of the Battle of Britain.
     

      
      Strathnaver collected its Melbourne contingent, including Probationary Sub-Lieutenant Hugh Syme, before heading west to the Indian Ocean.
         In a typical wartime gesture, Hugh had proposed to ‘Froggy’, and they informally announced their engagement two days before
         the ship sailed.
     

      
      
      His first wife, Ally, had moved out of ‘Grenfell’ to a flat in South Yarra, where she would remain, unmarried, until her death
         at 102. So Hugh offered the run of his home to Joan and her parents for the duration.
     

      
      The sea voyage itself was a light-hearted affair. The Yachtsmen Scheme’s 24 commissioned volunteers quickly came together
         as a group, and included two who would follow Syme and Mould into the mine-busting game – New Zealand-born Howard Dudley Reid
         and James ‘Red’ Kessack, latterly of Sydney but Glasgow-born and with a long stint in the United States that had added a Boston
         twang to his Scottish burr.
     

      
      Red was the only one of them with serious blue-water experience. He had sailed on the SS Wortanna, a sugar lighter that plied between Cairns and Port Douglas in Northern Queensland for the Adelaide Steamship Company. He
         had joined the sister ship Carroo as an able seaman and risen to the rank of first mate.
     

      
      Dudley Reid was an accountant with a small but thriving practice. Now 31, he had migrated to Sydney from his native Wellington
         in his twenties. He and Kessack would become close mates. One of them would be blown to pieces by the mine he was attempting
         to render safe before his war was much advanced, while the other would survive and become a multi-millionaire. But on the
         journey they both tightened the bonds of friendship with Syme and especially with ‘Mouldy’, the nickname that would remain
         with him throughout the hostilities.
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